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A. PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Derwin Pasley, the respondent below, moves this Court for 

the relief designated in section B. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Pursuant to RAP 13 .4, Mr. Pasley seeks review of the 

Court of Appeals' opinion (Op., attached), filed November 21, 

2023 (reconsideration denied February 22, 2024), affirming his 

civil commitment under chapter 71.09 RCW, the Sexually 

Violent Predator Act (SVP A). The published opinion holds that 

consensual sexual activity may constitute a "recent overt act" 

justifying indefinite civil commitment. 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Pasley was born and raised in Miami, Florida, in a 

deeply religious family. Ex. 29 at 7, 10-11. When he was 20 years 

old, Mr. Pasley joined the military and was transferred to 

California, then South Carolina, and eventually to Washington 

State. Ex. 29 at 7-9. There, Mr. Pasley completed his active duty, 

got married, and received his bachelor's degree in general 
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ministries, planning to become a church administrator. Ex. 29 at 

9-10, 80. He ultimately gave up on that aspiration, however, 

because he committed several offenses that he later described as 

thoughtless, selfish, and "violat[ ing] a number of moral and ethical 

obligations." Ex. 29 at 11, 57-59. 

Between 2002 and 2009, Mr. Pasley worked and 

volunteered in various jobs involving youth: as a middle school 

football coach; a choir director, worship leader, and janitor at a 

church; and a paraeducator. Ex. 29 at 40, 43-44, 65-66, 68-71, 81-

85. In 2010, he pleaded guilty to three counts of child molestation, 

involving three named victims. Ex. 1 at 1-5. All were middle 

school-aged boys, and all alleged Mr. Pasley had touched them 

sexually, over their clothing, disguising his actions as playful 

roughhousing. Ex. 29 at 52, 54-55, 68-76; RP (April 18, 2022) at 

38-43 50-5 
' 

. 

Mr. Pasley served an exceptional sentence of sentence of 

150 months for these offenses, followed by 36 months of 

community custody. Ex. 1 at 3-5. 
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Mr. Pasley entered sex offender treatment for the first time 

in 2017, while he was incarcerated. Ex. 29 at 64. He described 

this experience as transformative: 

[O]ne of the things that we dealt with in treatment is 

our offending . . .  behaviors, and taking responsibility 

for our actions. And so after going through that 

process, I had to - - my goal in life is to continue to 

be truthful to who I am as a person and to who I am, 

and part of my truth, had to - - I had to take 

accountability for my actions with [ my victims.] 

Ex. 29 at 63-64. 

When he was released to community custody in 2018, Mr. 

Pasley began treatment with Sharese Jones, a psychologist 

specializing in cognitive and dialectical behavioral therapy for sex 

offenders. RP (April 21, 2002) at 591-94. Ms. Jones treated Mr. 

Pasley for 17 months and considered him a model client. RP (April 

21, 2002) at 595, 598-99. She worked with Mr. Pasley to resolve 

his feelings of conflict over his sexual orientation, and his 

impulsiveness, and she considered him to have made significant 

progress. RP (April 21, 2002) at 600-01, 605-09. 
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When Mr. Pasley graduated from his required treatment 

after one year, he continued voluntarily for several more months. 

RP (April 21, 2002) at 604. During this time, Mr. Pasley 

experimented with using dating apps, and he sought Ms. Jones's 

advice about how to make "a healthy partner choice." RP (April 

21, 2002) at 604. 

In November of 2020, Mr. Pasley entered In re Barr 1 pleas 

to two counts of third-degree assault, negligence. Ex. 2 at 1. The 

court imposed 18 months of confinement, followed by a year of 

community custody. Ex. 2 at 4-5. These pleas arose from Mr. 

Pasley's sexual encounter with an 18-year-old named K.R., who 

was friends with Mr. Pasley's nephew. Ex. 32 at 10; Ex. 29 at 86-

87, 91-105. In his plea statement Mr. Pasley agreed that he "did 

intentionally touch [K.R.] in an offensive manner," but he 

1 102 Wn.2d 265,684 P.2d 712 (1984). In an In re Barr plea, the 
defendant accepts a conviction for an offense for which there is 
no factual basis, in exchange for dismissal of greater charges for 
which a factual basis exists. Id. at 270. 
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otherwise steadfastly maintained that their encounter was 

consensual. Ex. 32 at 10; Ex. 29 at 86-87, 91-105. 

Before Mr. Pasley completed his term of confinement, the 

State filed a petition seeking his civil commitment as a sexually 

violent predator (SVP). CP 1-2. 

1. At Mr. Pasley 's Commitment Trial, the State Alleged His 
Encounter with K.R. was a Recent Overt Act 

To involuntarily commit a person as an SVP, the State must 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the person: 

has been convicted of or charged with a crime of 
sexual violence and . . . suffers from a mental 
abnormality or personality disorder which makes the 
person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual 
violence if not confined in a secure facility. 

RCW 71.09.020(19), .060(1). 

In addition to proving these criteria, the State is also 

required to prove the defendant committed a "recent overt act" 

(ROA), which is an act that either (1) causes harm of a sexually 

violent nature or (2) creates a reasonable apprehension of such 

harm. In re Young. 122 Wn.2d 1, 40-42, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), 
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superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in Det. of Thorell, 

149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003); RCW 71.09.020(13). 

Where the respondent was released to the community when 

the State filed the SVP commitment petition, the State must prove 

that, in addition to "the prior sexually violent offense that forms 

the basis for the petition," the respondent also committed an ROA. 

Albrecht, 14 7 Wn.2d at 8-11. The SVP A requires the State to 

prove this at trial, beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 71.09 .060(1 ); 

Det. ofLewis, 163 Wn.2d 188, 194, 177 P.3d 708 (2008). 

Where the respondent is incarcerated when the State files 

the petition, the State can satisfy the ROA requirement by proving 

that the conduct leading to the incarceration meets the definition of 

an ROA. Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d at 8-11; Det. of Henrickson, 140 

Wn.2d 686, 695-96, 1 P.3d 473 (2000). The SVPA requires the 

trial court to make this legal determination pretrial, if possible, on 

the basis of facts already established by prior plea or adjudication. 

Det. of Leck, 180 Wn. App. 492, 509-10, 334 P.3d 1109 (2014); 

Det. ofBrown, 154 Wn. App. 116, 129,225 P.3d 1028 (2010). 
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In its petition to civilly commit Mr. Pasley, the State alleged 

his encounter with K.R. constituted an ROA. CP 2. It moved pre­

trial for a ruling to that effect "as a matter of law, thereby relieving 

Petitioner of proving at trial that the behavior constitutes an ROA." 

CP 694. 

Before ruling on the State's motion, the trial court reviewed 

several documents related to the alleged ROA, including a 

transcript of K.R. 's initial law enforcement report; the declaration 

of probable cause supporting the initial charges of indecent 

liberties (three counts) and third-degree rape; the amended 

information charging two counts of third-degree assault; Mr. 

Pasley's plea statement in that case; the resulting felony judgment 

and sentence; and the transcript of Mr. Pasley's November 20, 

2020, plea colloquy and sentencing in the case. CP 212-28, 254-

332, 828-61. 
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These materials indicated there was never a factual basis for 

the indecent liberties counts and that K.R. never expressed non-

consent in his encounter with Mr. Pasley. CP 222-26, 834, 838. 

The trial court denied the State's motion for a pretrial ROA 

determination, correctly concluding that this determination would 

require the resolution of numerous disputed facts. RP (Feb. 25, 

2022) at 26-27; RP (Mar. 25, 2022) at 9. 

2. The Trial Court Found Mr. Pasley 's Encounter with 
K.R. was an ROA; the Court of Appeals Affirmed, 
Holding that Consent was Irrelevant to the ROA 
Determination 

Mr. Pasley proceeded to a bench trial on the State's civil 

commitment petition. 

The State presented testimony from three witnesses: P.D.,2 

one of the named victims in Mr. Pasley's 2010 guilty pleas to child 

molestation; Detective Howard Reynolds, who investigated the 

2 At the time of the civil commitment trial, Mr. Pasley denied 
committing any offenses against P.D. Ex. 29 at 86. But he 
readily admitted his offenses against the other two named victims 
of child molestation. Ex. 29 at 55, 77. 
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allegations involving K.R.; and Dr. Erik Fox, the State's expert. 

The State also played excerpts from Mr. Pasley's recorded 

deposition, in its case-in-chief. RP (Mar. 18, 2022) at 8-14. 

P.D. testified consistent with his allegations in 2009. RP 

(April 18, 2022) at 32-56. 

Detective Reynolds testified that K.R. appeared to him to be 

similar to a boy of 13 or 14 years old, because K.R. was shy, had 

braces, and was 5 foot 7.5 inches and 140 to 150 pounds. RP (April 

20, 2022) at 318-19. The detective also testified that he determined 

K.R. should be interviewed by a facility that specializes in 

interviewing children and people with disabilities. RP (April 20, 

2022) at 304. 

Detective Reynolds said that, when the State contacted him 

in December of 2021, for a picture of K.R., he searched K.R. 's 

Facebook page and selected the youngest-looking photo posted 

there. RP (April 20, 2022) at 325-32. That photo, and the broader 

collection from which he selected it, were entered into evidence. 

RP (April 20, 2022) at 324-32; Ex. 7, 520, 521. 
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Dr. Fox testified that he had diagnosed Mr. Pasley with 

"other specified paraphilic disorder with specifier of deviant 

interest in pubescent aged males" and "other specified personality 

disorder" with antisocial and narcissistic features. RP (April 18, 

2022) at 86, 112-139. And he testified that his actuarial analyses 

assigned Mr. Pasley an "absolute recidivism risk" of 47.4 percent 

in ten years, and 56 percent in 20 years. RP (April 19, 2022) at 

193-96, 272. 

Dr. Fox did not offer an opinion as to whether Mr. Pasley's 

encounter with K.R. constituted an ROA. RP (April 19, 2022) at 

202. But he did testify that he perceived "parallels" between that 

encounter and Mr. Pasley's pre-treatment offenses. RP (April 19, 

2022) at 202. He said that, like all the pre-treatment victims, K.R. 

was shy, softspoken, vulnerable, and had an absent father. RP 

(April 19, 2022) at 202; see Ex. 29 at 61, 78, 85; RP (April 18, 

2022) at 36. 

Dr. Fox acknowledged that that the DSM defines 

"pubescent" as "typically 13 or younger," that Mr. Pasley' s 
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adjudicated child molestation victims were "pubescent," and that 

K.R. was presumably "postpubescent," given his age. RP (April 

19, 2022) at 208-09. He also testified that he had no knowledge of 

K.R.'s IQ, had never met K.R., and did not know whether he had 

any specific diagnosis. RP (April 19, 2022) at 210. However, 

based on the fact that K.R. had an "individual education plan" 

(IEP), which qualified him to play on a Special Olympics 

basketball team, on statements by K.R. 's mother that he had 

difficulty with reading and writing, and on Detective Reynolds's 

opinion that K.R. was shy and softspoken, Dr. Fox opined that he 

was similar to Mr. Pasley's pubescent victims. RP (April 19, 

2022) at 118, 202, 210-11. 

In his deposition, Mr. Pasley described his earlier offending 

behavior as thoughtless and selfish, and he said he now knew 

that-no matter what he believed at the time-there was no way a 

child could consent to sexual contact with an adult. Ex. 29 at 57-

59, 77, 79-80. 
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Mr. Pasley said he offended against children because he 

wanted a sexual connection with a male but was afraid an adult 

"would eventually reveal my actions to my spouse or anyone else 

that I knew." Ex. 29 at 81. 

In contrast to his offenses against pubescent victims, Mr. 

Pasley described his encounter with K.R. as consensual. He said 

he met K.R. in January of 2020, when he came to Mr. Pasley's 

home to watch the Super Bowl with Mr. Pasley's nephew. Ex. 29 

at 86-87. He said he chatted with K.R. that day, but not about 

anything sexual. Ex. 29 at 88. At some point, he asked K.R. how 

old he was, and K.R. said he was about to tlml 19. Ex. 29 at 97-

98. 

K.R. next came to Mr. Pasley's house about two weeks later 

and spent three nights there. Ex. 29 at 88-89. Mr. Pasley described 

his nephew as "diagnosed as being mentally retarded," and said 

K.R. met his nephew because both played for a Special Olympics 

basketball team. Ex. 29 at 89. 
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On the second night of his visit, Mr. Pasley asked K.R., "Did 

he get down?" Ex. 29 at 91-92. He said this was a way of asking 

whether a person "has a fluid lifestyle," and that K.R. said he did. 

Ex. 29 at 91. Mr. Pasley said he had expected this response, based 

on K.R.'s mannerisms and style of dress. Ex. 29 at 94-95. After 

that, the two men "touched each other . . . [ and] fondled each 

other's penises." Ex. 29 at 92. Mr. Pasley said this happened early 

in the morning, before he left for work, and that K.R. was a willing 

participant in the contact. Ex. 29 at 92, 95-96. 

The following night, the two men engaged in sexual contact 

again, briefly. Ex. 29 at 101-03. Mr. Pasley said he ended that 

encounter because he was tired, and that soon after he saw K.R. on 

the phone, appearing distraught and crying. Ex. 29 at 103. Mr. 

Pasley told him he was "here for you if you need something," but 

K.R. said he was good, so Mr. Pasley went back to his bedroom. 

Ex. 29 at 103-04. Sometime later, Mr. Pasley awoke to the home's 

alarm sounding. Ex. 29 at 104-05. He went upstairs and found 

that K.R. had left via the front door. Ex. 29 at 105. 
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Mr. Pasley presented testimony by Ms. Jones, his treatment 

provider, and Dr. Brian Abbott, the defense expert. RP (April 20, 

2022) at 348-438; RP (April 21, 2022) at 447-627. 

Ms. Jones acknowledged some concerns, regarding one 

"impulsive" sexual encounter Mr. Pasley had with an adult male at 

his gym after completing his required treatment, and about Mr. 

Pasley's "concentrating more on younger-looking men inside and 

outside of group." RP (April 21, 2022) at 623-24. And, when 

deposed, she said she was not sure Mr. Pasley was completely 

forthcoming with her. RP (April 21, 2022) at 625. 

But Ms. Jones opined that Mr. Pasley understood the risks 

associated with his interest in younger men, even ifhe had not fully 

"internalized" that understanding. RP (April 21, 2022) at 624-25. 

And she gave him a positive evaluation upon his discharge from 

treatment. RP (April 21, 2022) at 598-612. This evaluation 

credited Mr. Pasley with providing good feedback to other group 

members, demonstrating solid compliance with treatment and 

supervision conditions, reliably disclosing incidental contact with 
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minors and details of his sex life, working to resolve his internal 

conflict over his sexual orientation, and overall cultivating a strong 

therapeutic relationship. RP (April 21, 2022) at 598-612. 

Consistent with Ms. Jones's testimony, Dr. Abbott opined 

that Mr. Pasley had made significant progress in treatment. He 

also testified that he did not believe Mr. Pasley had either a mental 

abnormality or personality disorder. RP (April 20, 2022) at 418-

38. Instead, he believed Mr. Pasley's sex offenses were motivated 

by deeply conflicted feelings about his same-sex attraction, that he 

had engaged in "common types of cognitive distortions" to justify 

offending against children, and that he had successfully confronted 

those distortions in treatment. RP (April 20, 2022) at 368-75. 

Dr. Abbott disagreed with Dr. Fox's actuarial analysis. RP 

(April 21, 2022) at 469-72. 

Dr. Abbott also opined that the incident involving K.R. was 

unlike Mr. Pasley's offenses prior to treatment. RP (April 20, 

2022) at 406. Specifically, he testified that Mr. Pasley regarded 

K.R. as a peer, with whom he did not seek contact to assert power 
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or control or to escape feelings of shame about same-sex attraction. 

RP (April 20, 2022) at 407-10. Dr. Abbott acknowledged that the 

incident with K.R. reflected some cognitive distortions. RP (April 

21, 2022) at 584. But he said this the incident was fundamentally 

different from the offenses involving minors, and he opined that 

treatment had given Mr. Pasley insight into the harm those offenses 

had caused. RP (April 20, 2022) at 371-72. 

Dr. Abbott rejected the notion that K.R. had the mental 

capacity of a child. RP (April 20, 2022) at 405-06. He testified 

that K.R. was able to communicate clearly and understand 

complicated terms, and that he demonstrated life skills typical of a 

young adult. RP (April 20, 2022) at 405-06. Consistent with Det. 

Reynolds's testimony that he selected the youngest-looking 

picture of K.R. from the Face book account, Dr. Abbott noted that 

the record contained some pictures in which K.R. looked younger 

than his recorded age and some in which he looked over 18. RP 

(April 20, 2022) at 408. 
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With respect to the ROA, the State did not argue that Mr. 

Pasley actually caused harm of a sexually violent nature. RP 

(April 25, 2022) at 688. It argued only the second-prong definition 

of an ROA: that Mr. Pasley's encounter with K.R. created a 

reasonable apprehension of such harm. RP (April 25, 2022) at 

688-91. 

The State's theory was that Mr. Pasley was aroused by the 

power he exerted over his victims, and that he therefore preferred 

victims who did not have the capacity for consent. RP (April 25, 

2022) at 564, 689-91. The State conceded that K.R. had the 

capacity to consent, but it argued that he was nevertheless a 

"substitute victim" because he was "embarrassed by the sexual 

contact." RP (April 25, 2022) at 650, 670-72, 738. 

The trial court adopted the State's theory. It found that Mr. 

Pasley's encounter with K.R. met the second-prong defmition of 

an ROA because it created a reasonable apprehension of sexually 

violent harm: 
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Mr. Pasley's explanation of this event, combined 

with his later conviction, including his statement that 

he made in the document called "Statement of 

Respondent on Plea of Guilty" and the testimony of 

Detective Reynolds shows beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the act of Mr. Pasley created a reasonable 

apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature in 

the mind of an objective person who knows Mr. 

Pasley's history and mental condition . 

. . . Although [K.R.]'s chronological age was 18, 

and the court did not have evidence that his physical 

development was that of a pubescent male, given 

[Mr. Pasley's] prior offenses, the significant age 

difference, Mr. Pasley's knowledge of some 

impairment by [K.R.], although not specified, and the 

fact that the event was at Mr. Pasley's home in the 

living room, similar to the situation as [P.D.]'s 

experience, this act would create a reasonable 

apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature. 

RP (April 26, 2022) at 761-62. 

Mr. Pasley appealed, arguing the evidence was insufficient 

to prove an ROA, beyond a reasonable doubt, where it was 

insufficient to prove his sexual contact with K.R. was non­

consensual. BOA at 27-33. Division Two affirmed in a published 

opinion holding: "consent is not the crux of this case" and 
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"[ c ]onsent is unrelated to the ROA inquiry in the case before us." 

Op. at 13-14. 

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The Court of Appeals' published decision merits review 

under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) because it involves an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by this Court. To Mr. 

Pasley's knowledge, it is the first time any court has held that 

consensual sexual contact can satisfy the ROA prerequisite to 

indefinite civil commitment. 

Civil commitment is a "massive curtailment of liberty." In 

re Harris, 98 Wn.2d 276, 279, 654 P.2d 109 (1982) (quoting 

Humphrey v. Cady. 405 U.S. 504, 509, 92 S. Ct. 1048, 31 L. Ed. 

2d 394 (1972)). Laws abridging liberty interests violate due 

process unless they are narrowly tailored to further a compelling 

state interest. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Det. of Albrecht, 147 

Wn.2d 1, 7, 51 P.3d 73 (2002). Accordingly, when the State seeks 

to civilly commit a person, due process requires that it prove the 

person is both mentally ill and currently dangerous. Foucha v. 
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Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 80, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 

(1992); Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d at 8. 

As a matter of due process, the State must prove an ROA in 

order to prove that a person is currently dangerous. Albrecht, 14 7 

Wn.2d at 8; Young. 122 Wn.2d at 40-42. 

As noted, the State argued a second-prong ROA theory in 

Mr. Pasley's case: that his encounter with K.R. created a 

reasonable apprehension of sexually violent harm. RP (April 25, 

2022) at 688-91; RCW 71.09.020(13). 

The SVP A provides a relatively narrow definition of 

"sexually violent" harm. RCW 71.09.020(18). This definition 

includes an attempted or completed: 

act defined in Title 9A RCW as rape in the first 
degree, rape in the second degree by forcible 
compulsion, rape of a child in the first or second 
degree, statutory rape in the first or second degree, 
indecent liberties by forcible compulsion, indecent 
liberties against a child under age fourteen, incest 
against a child under age fourteen, or child 
molestation in the first or second degree. 
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RCW 71.09.020(18)(a), (d). It also includes foreign convictions 

for offenses comparable to those listed above, and attempted or 

completed: 

Murder in the first or second degree, assault in the 
first or second degree, assault of a child in the first or 
second degree, kidnapping in the first or second 
degree, burglary in the first degree, residential 
burglary, or unlawful imprisonment 

if proved beyond a reasonable doubt to have been committed with 

sexual motivation. RCW 71.09.020(18)(c), (d). 

Non-consent is a necessary element of every harmful act 

listed in these statutes. See RCW 71.09.020(18)(a) (defining 

"sexually violent offense" to include only acts of rape or sexual 

contact accomplished by force or involving victim under the age 

of consent). Thus, to prove Mr. Pasley committed an ROA, the 

Department had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he 

engaged in an act creating a reasonable apprehension of non­

consensual sexual contact. 

Division Two found the State met this burden, analogizing 

Mr. Pasley's case to Det. of Anderson, 166 Wn.2d 543, 550, 211 
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P.3d 994 (2009) and Detention of Froats, 134 Wn. App. 420,438, 

140 P.3d 622 (2006). But the ROAs at issue in Anderson and 

Froats were indisputably non-consensual. 

In Anderson, the sexual activity in question involved several 

of the respondent's co-patients institutionalized at Western State 

Hospital. 166 Wn.2d at 545. To prove these sex acts were ROAs, 

the State presented testimony that "at least three of the patients . .  

. were incapable of consensual sex." Id. at 547. And the 

respondent himself admitted that he "took sexual advantage of at 

least two these patients; he described his relationships with them 

as "'deviant."' Id. 

Unlike the State in Anderson, the State in Mr. Pasley's case 

conceded that K.R. was capable of consenting to sexual contact. 

RP (April 25, 2022) at 650 ("we are not arguing that [K.R.] could 

not consent to sexual contact"). And unlike the respondent in 

Anderson, Mr. Pasley did not describe his encounter with K.R. as 

deviant or predatory. On the contrary, Mr. Pasley testified that he 
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recognized K.R. as a fellow "fluid" man and engaged him in 

conversation to confirm this was true. Ex. 29 at 91, 94-95. 

This was consistent with testimony from both Dr. Abbott 

and Ms. Jones, who opined that Mr. Pasley was still working to 

reduce some cognitive distortions but now fundamentally 

appreciated the importance of consent. RP (April 20, 2022) at 3 71-

72, 407-10; RP (April 21, 2022) at 584, 624-25. Even if the third­

degree assault plea suggested he misunderstood K.R. 's perspective 

on their encounter, this misunderstanding is nothing like the 

predatory acts at issue in Anderson. It is not enough to overcome 

reasonable doubts that Mr. Pasley poses an ongoing threat of 

sexually violent harm. See RCW 71.09.020(13). 

Mr. Pasley' s case is similarly distinguishable from Froats. 

The respondent in Froats, who had a 30-year history of rape and 

molestation against young children, made sexual advances toward 

a fellow inmate who had "the developmental age of about five 

years." 134 Wn. App. at 423-27. There was no dispute about 

consent: the evidence showed the inmate responded to Mr. Froats's 
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advances by assaulting him. Id. at 427. And Mr. Froats later 

described the incident as one in which "'[h]e was trying to love 

[the fellow inmate] in the way that God loved him,"' which an 

expert witness testified was common code for pedophilic 

predation. Id. (alteration in original). 

Like Mr. Pasley, Mr. Froats argued that his alleged ROA 

was properly viewed as an attempt at a consenting adult same-sex 

encounter. Id. at 435. Unlike Mr. Pasley, Mr. Froats conceded 

( and other evidence also showed) that the encounter was not, in 

fact, reasonably viewed as consensual. Id. at 437. 

By analogizing Mr. Pasley's case to Anderson and Froats, 

and by holding that "[c]onsent is unrelated to the ROA inquiry," 

Division Two ignored the SVPA's definition of"sexually violent" 

harm, which include only non-consensual acts. 

E. CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant review, hold that non-consent is a 

critical element of "sexually violent" harm under the SVP A, and 

reverse the order civilly committing Mr. Pasley. 
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VELJACIC, J. - Derwin Leron Pasley appeals the trial court' s findings of fact and 

conclusions of law that he is a sexually violent predator (SVP) . Pasley challenges the sufficiency 

of the evidence that he committed a recent overt act (ROA) . He also challenges the pretrial 

exclusion of a portion of his testimony as hearsay and claims his counsel was ineffective for failing 

to re-raise this issue during the trial . 

We hold that sufficient evidence supports the trial court' s findings and conclusions that 

Pasley committed an ROA. We also hold that the trial court erred in excluding evidence as 

hearsay, but the error was not prejudicial and does not merit reversal . Finally, we hold that Pasley' s 

ineffective assistance claim fails because counsel ' s  decision to refrain from objecting to the 

exclusion of hearsay evidence did not prejudice him. Accordingly, we affirm. 1 

1 The State also pursues a cross appeal in the alternative should we not affirm the trial court 
proceeding. Because we affirm, we do not reach the State ' s  alternative arguments. 
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I. BACKGROUND 

FACTS 

Pasley has a long history of sexually assaulting teenage boys . In 20 1 0, Pasley pleaded 

guilty to three counts of child molestation for offenses against three separate victims between the 

ages of 1 2  and 14 .  The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 1 50 months of incarceration, 

followed by 36  months of community custody. 

While Pasley was incarcerated, he entered sex offender treatment. Then, when he was 

released into community custody in 20 1 8 , he began treatment with Sharese Jones, a psychologist 

specializing in cognitive and dialectical behavioral therapy for sex offenders. 

In 2020, 1 8-year-old K.R. reported that Pasley had sexually assaulted him. Pursuant to 

these allegations, Pasley entered a Barr plea2 to two counts of assault in the third degree­

negligence. In his plea statement, Pasley agreed that he "did intentionally touch [K.R.] in an 

offensive manner," but he otherwise maintained that their encounter was consensual . Clerk' s 

Papers (CP) at 209. Pasley remained incarcerated on these offenses until March 202 1 ,  when the 

State filed a petition to commit him as an SVP. 

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion asking the court to determine as a matter of law that 

Pasley' s acts underlying his 2020 assault convictions against K.R. constituted an ROA. The State 

argued that this determination is one for the court pretrial as a matter of law. The trial court denied 

the motion, determining there was insufficient evidence to support a pretrial ROA ruling. The 

court reasoned in part that because the ROA offenses stemmed from a Barr plea, it could not rely 

2 A Barr plea refers to In re Pers. Restraint of Barr, 1 02 Wn.2d 265, 270-7 1 ,  684 P.2d 7 1 2  ( 1 984), 
that explained a defendant may plead guilty to amended charges for which there is no factual basis 
with the understanding that a factual basis exists for the original charges and, if the case had 
proceeded to trial, there exists sufficient evidence for a trier of fact to have found the defendant 
guilty of the initial charges. 

2 
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on the factual basis of the plea. The court also denied the State's motion for reconsideration as to 

this issue. As a result of the trial court's ruling, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Pasley committed an ROA. 

IL TRIAL TESTIMONY 

The State presented testimony from Pasley; P.D. (a victim of Pasley's prior offenses); 

Detective Howard Reynolds, who investigated Pasley's 2020 offenses against K.R.; and expert 

witness, Erik Fox, Ph.D. Pasley presented testimony from two witnesses: expert witness, Brian 

Abbott, Ph.D.; and Pasley's former sex offender treatment provider, Sharese Jones. 

A. Pasley's Testimony 

Pasley testified about his record of offenses against minors. In 1994, he worked as an after 

school program counselor at a YMCA in Florida, where his employment ended due to an arrest 

based on allegations that he molested a six-year-old boy in the program. 

In 2002, he was volunteering for a church where he met 13-year-old V.S. ,  who was also a 

member of the church. Pasley admitted he touched V.S. 's penis over his clothing on three or four 

occasions. Pasley reported that he had known V.S. for two or three months before the first incident 

occurred. Pasley ultimately pleaded guilty to child molestation in the second degree for his assault 

ofV.S. 

Pasley also testified about the sex offenses that occurred when he was a volunteer football 

coach for 12- to 14-year-old boys. One of the players, J. S. ,  would at times drive home with Pasley. 

On one of these drives, Pasley pulled J. S. 's penis out of his pants and groped him. Pasley also 

removed his own penis from his pants, coerced J. S .  into touching it, and attempted to convince 

J. S. to perform oral sex on him. Pasley pleaded guilty to child molestation in the third degree for 

this offense. 

3 
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Another victim from the football team, P.D., had spent the night at Pasley's home multiple 

times when his mother was out of town. Pasley denied touching P.D. but he did plead guilty to 

child molestation in the second degree for the offense against P.D. 

Pasley also testified about the assault ofK.R. He explained that K.R. was friends with his 

nephew, and that they had met on a Special Olympics basketball team. K.R. was staying at 

Pasley's house to watch the Super Bowl. Pasley testified that he decided to approach K.R. about 

sex because he believed K.R. acted in a way that was conducive to a "fluid lifestyle." CP at 642. 

In describing their first sexual encounter, Pasley explained that they fondled each other's penises 

over and under clothing for about five-to-ten minutes until Pasley had to go to work. Pasley 

maintained that he believed K.R. consented to this activity. 

The second time Pasley approached K.R., K.R. was speaking to his girlfriend on the phone. 

When Pasley asked him "what's up between us," K.R. responded that it was "cool" because she 

did not live in Washington. CP at 652. During this interaction, Pasley and K.R. mutually 

masturbated each other for five minutes. Pasley says that afterwards, he noticed K.R. looking 

"distraught" and crying, but when he asked K.R. about it, K.R. said he was "good." CP at 654. 

Later that evening, Pasley awoke to the sound of his house alarm going off and realized that K.R. 

had left via the front door. 

Pasley admitted the offenses against V.S. and J.S. ,  denied the offense against P.D., and 

maintained the encounter with K.R. was consensual. 

The trial court ultimately decided to exclude the portion of Pasley's deposition transcript 

wherein he recounted K.R. 's statement that their sexual encounter was "cool," even though K.R. 

had a girlfriend. The court ruled: 

4 
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With regard to the contested designation on page 101 ,  lines seven through 

19, the court finds that this question and answer and specifically the answer, of 

course, is a hearsay statement. At this point the court finds that it is not relevant 

and therefore the court is not allowing that designation. I am unclear as to if it were 

not offered for the truth of the matter asserted how it would be relevant to a 

contested issue in this trial, and that is the court's ruling without further 

development of authorities and argument. 

Rep. of Proc. (RP) (Mar. 1 8, 2022) at 13- 14. 

Defense counsel then asked, "what I'm hearing from the court is ifwe develop that further 

at trial, then the court could rule on that as it's presented[?]," and the court confirmed, "All pretrial 

rulings are subject to being re-raised and brought up and addressed on the record." RP (Mar. 18, 

2022) at 14. Defense counsel did not re-raise the issue at trial, so the trial court admitted the 

version of Pasley's deposition without the statement at issue. 

B. Detective Reynolds's Testimony 

Reynolds works with the Thurston County Sherriff's Office and investigated the incident 

involving K.R. He described K.R. as appearing to be a boy of 13- or 14-years-old because of his 

slight build, his braces, and his timid demeanor. Reynolds recommended that K.R. be interviewed 

by a facility that specializes in interviewing children and people with disabilities. This was because 

Reynolds noticed that K.R. 's vocabulary was limited and he seemed confused when asked certain 

questions. He also noted that K.R. lived in his mother's home and a father was never identified. 

C. Dr. Fox's Testimony 

Dr. Fox testified as the State's  forensic expert at trial. Based on interviews with Pasley 

and review of over 5,000 pages of discovery documents, Dr. Fox testified that he diagnosed Pasley 

with two disorders: (1) other specified paraphilic disorder with specifier of deviant interest in 

pubescent aged males and (2) other specified personality disorder with antisocial and narcissistic 

features. 

5 
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After evaluating Pasley's prior offenses, Dr. Fox concluded that the incident with K.R. fits 

within the pattern of his other victims. This is because K.R. looks like a teenager and has cognitive 

limitations. Dr. Fox also explained that Pasley's sexual conduct with K.R. supports the paraphilic 

disorder diagnosis for these same reasons. 

In terms of the personality disorder, Dr. Fox explained that the diagnosis was supported by 

Pasley's impulsive behavior, disregard for the rights of others, violation of social norms, lack of 

remorse, deceitfulness, lack of empathy, entitlement, and interpersonal exploitation. This disorder 

was evidenced by the type of victims Pasley pursued, who were "particularly vulnerable, . . .  

young, shy, emotionally immature individuals who lacked a father figure in the home." RP (Apr. 

1 8, 2022) at 132. Pasley "knew their vulnerabilities and found those vulnerabilities to be 

specifically sexually arousing. And he had described his arousal to the power that he had over 

them and specifically had identified their embarrassment as part of his decision-making in 

choosing them." RP (Apr. 18, 2022) at 132. 

Finally, Dr. Fox testified as to the risk assessment he conducted of Pasley. Based on this 

assessment, Dr. Fox concluded that Pasley's disorders would make it very difficult for him to 

control his sexual behavior, and he would be likely to engage in more predatory acts if not confined 

to a facility. 

D. Dr. Abbott's Testimony 

Dr. Abbott testified as Pasley's forensic expert and largely disagreed with portions of Dr. 

Fox's testimony. Specifically, Dr. Abbott did not agree with Dr. Fox's diagnoses of Pasley, and 

opined that Pasley offended because he "was struggling with homosexual inclinations." 1 RP at 

370. Dr. Abbott did not think that Pasley suffered from any paraphilic or personality disorder. 
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Dr. Abbott concluded that the incident with K.R. was dissimilar from the offenses 

involving minors. He disagreed with Dr. Fox that K.R. was cognitively delayed. He testified that 

K.R. was able to communicate clearly and understand complex terms, and that he demonstrated 

life skills typical of a young adult. Dr. Abbott believed that Pasley has made progress in his 

treatment and that Pasley's risk of re-offense decreased after his offense against K.R. 

E. Sharese Jones's Testimony 

Jones also testified for the defense. Jones was Pasley's sex offender treatment provider 

when he was released into community custody in 2018. She believed Pasley to have made 

substantial progress in treatment, noting that he completed the program successfully and had no 

formal violations while in the program. 

However, Jones testified that some of Pasley's behaviors were concernmg. Pasley 

described to her a sexual encounter he had during treatment which Jones believed reflected his 

problems with impulsivity. Jones observed Pasley concentrating on the men who looked younger 

in group treatment. Jones was also concerned that Pasley was being manipulative and not 

completely forthcoming when he was in the treatment program. 

III. TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS 

The trial court found that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Pasley met the 

criteria as an SVP and his acts against K.R. constituted an ROA. The court ordered Pasley 

committed to the custody of the Department of Social and Health Services. 

Pasley appeals the trial court's findings, conclusions, and order of commitment. 

Specifically, Pasley challenges whether the State presented sufficient evidence that Pasley 

committed an ROA and the trial court's decision to exclude a portion of his deposition as hearsay. 

7 
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Pasley also claims that his attorney's failure to object to the trial court's hearsay ruling amounts to 

ineffective assistance of counsel. 

ANALYSIS 

I. ROA REQUIREMENT FOR SVP PETITIONS 

Pasley argues that the evidence was insufficient to prove he committed an ROA. We 

disagree. 

A. Standard of Review 

The quantum of the evidence in S VP commitment hearings is examined under a criminal 

standard. In re Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 744, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). At the initial hearing, 

the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the person has been convicted of a sexually 

violent offense and suffers from an abnormality or disorder that makes them likely to engage in 

predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined. Id. 

Because the legislature has adopted the beyond a reasonable doubt standard for 

commitments under the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA), our courts have previously 

reasoned that sufficiency of the evidence is the appropriate standard in an SVP evidentiary 

challenge on appeal. Id. ; In reDet. ofRoss, 102 Wn. App. 108, 1 19, 6 P.3d 625 (2000), abrogated 

on other grounds by In re Det. ofThorell, 149 Wn.2d at 753. Under this approach, the evidence 

is sufficient if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could 

have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Randhawa, 

133 Wn.2d 67, 73, 941 P.2d 661 (1997). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are 

not subject to review. State v. Cardenas- Flores, 189 Wn.2d 243, 266, 401 P.3d 19 (2017). 
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B .  Legal Principles 

RCW 7 1 .09 .020( 1 9) describes an SVP as one who "suffers from a mental abnormality or 

personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence 

if not confined in a secure facility." Under RCW 7 1 .09.030( 1 ) ,3 the State may file an SVP petition 

when it appears that "a person who at any time previously has been convicted of a sexually violent 

offense is about to be released from total confinement" or against a "person who at any time 

previously has been convicted of a sexually violent offense and has since been released from total 

confinement." State v. McNutt, 1 24 Wn. App. 344, 347, 1 0 1  P .3d 422 (2004) ; In re Det. of 

Albrecht, 1 47 Wn.2d 1 ,  7-8, 5 1  P .3d 73 (2002) .4 

Due process requires the indefinite detention of SVPs be based on findings of current 

mental illness and present dangerousness. Albrecht, 1 47 Wn.2d 7-8 .  To prove present 

dangerousness, the State may be required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the subject of 

the petition has committed an ROA. RCW 7 1 .09 .060( 1 ) .  An ROA can be either an act or a threat 

that has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of 

such harm. Albrecht, 1 47 Wn.2d at 8; RCW 7 1 .09 .020( 1 3) .  The State is required to prove an 

ROA if, in between the incarceration for the qualifying offense and the filing of the petition, the 

offender has been released into the community. Albrecht, 1 47 Wn.2d at 8 - 1 1 .  

However, the State need not prove an ROA '" [w]hen, on the day [the SVP] petition is filed, 

an individual is incarcerated for a sexually violent offense, . . .  or for an act that would itself qualify 

3 RCW 7 1 .09 .030 was amended in 2023 . Since the amendments do not affect our analysis, we use 
the current version. 

4 McNutt (2004) and Albrecht (2002) , use language from the 2009 version of the statute . The 
subject language did not change when the statute was amended in 2023 ; the amendment does not 
impact our analysis .  

9 
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as [an ROA]. "' In re Det. ofMarshall, 1 56 Wn.2d 150, 1 57, 125 P.3d 1 1 1  (2005) (quoting In re 

Det. of Henrickson, 140 Wn.2d 686, 695, 2 P.3d 473 (2000)). Instead, "where the individual is 

incarcerated on the day the petition is filed, the question is whether the confinement is for a 

sexually violent act or an act that itself qualifies as [ an ROA]." Id. at 1 58; McNutt, 124 Wn. App. 

at 350. The inquiry for whether an individual is incarcerated for an act that qualifies as an ROA 

is a mixed question of law and fact for the trial court, not the jury. Marshall, 156 Wn.2d at 1 58; 

McNutt, 124 Wn. App. at 350. The factual inquiry determines the factual circumstances of the 

individual's history and mental condition, and the legal inquiry determines whether an objective 

person knowing those factual circumstances would have a reasonable apprehension of harm of a 

sexually violent nature resulting from the act in question. McNutt, 124 Wn. App. at 350. 

The determination as to whether an act qualifies as an ROA is fact specific. In Marshall, 

the defendant appealed the trial court's finding that he was an SVP. 156 Wn.2d at 154. The 

defendant had a history of sex offenses for sexual contact with minors, but when the SVP petition 

was filed he was incarcerated for rape in the third degree of a developmentally delayed adult. Id. 

at 1 54. The defendant argued that the State should have been required to prove an ROA because 

at the time the petition was filed, he was not incarcerated for a sexually violent offense. Id. at 1 56. 

The court looked to the nature of the offense, the defendant's history of offenses, and the 

defendant's mental condition. Id. at 159. The court held that the crime for which the defendant 

was incarcerated was an ROA because, in light of the defendant's history and mental condition, 

nonconsensual sex with a developmentally disabled adult would create a reasonable apprehension 

of harm of a sexually violent nature in the mind of an objective person. Id. So, while the offense 

was not per se sexually violent, it was an ROA based on the facts and circumstances specific to 

the defendant. 

10 



56944-2-II 

The ROA behavior need not be identical to past offending behavior to qualify as an ROA. 

See McNutt, 124 Wn. App. at 351 -52. In McNutt, the defendant's conviction for communicating 

with a minor for immoral purposes constituted an ROA such that the State was not required to 

prove an ROA to support the SVP petition. 124 Wn. App. at 346, 351 -52. The defendant's  ROA 

offense involved the same type of predatory behavior with a minor female victim as his past 

behavior with minor male victims. Id. at 351 .  The court held that this still constituted an ROA in 

that it could create a reasonable apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature in the mind of 

an objective person who knew the defendant's history and mental condition. Id. at 35 1-52. This 

determination was, like inM arshall, highly fact specific as to the defendant's history. See id. The 

court also acknowledged that it was possible for a factual scenario to exist in which someone with 

a sexually violent history can commit the act of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes 

without also committing an ROA, but the court concluded that McNutt was not that person. Id. at 

352. 

In In re Detention of Anderson, the State petitioned to commit a convicted sex offender as 

an SVP who engaged in numerous sexual liaisons with vulnerable and developmentally disabled 

co-patients at Western State Hospital (WSH). 166 Wn.2d 543, 545, 2 1 1  P.3d 994 (2009). At least 

three of the victims were incapable of consent. Id. at 547. The court held that Anderson's sexual 

activities at WSH could constitute overt acts. Id. at 550. Based on expert testimony, the trial court 

found that Anderson "engaged in sexual activity with vulnerable patients as substitutes for his 

preferred victims, children," and that "Anderson's acts of exploiting vulnerable adults were closely 

akin to his assaults on children." Id. Expert witnesses who were familiar with Anderson's history 

and mental condition believed that he posed a clear risk to reoffend if released from custody. Id. 

The court reasoned that those expert opinions support a reasonable apprehension of sexually 

1 1  
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violent harm, and therefore by definition, Anderson' s  sexual activities for which he was 

incarcerated when the State filed the SVP petition could constitute overt acts. Id. 

In In re Detention of Froats, the defendant appealed the trial court' s finding that he was an 

SVP. 1 34 Wn. App. 420, 429, 1 40 P .3d 622 (2006). The defendant argued that the incident in 

question did not rise to the level of an ROA because his victim was an adult and did not fit his 

usual victim profile : children. Id. at 43 5 .  The court determined that this argument was not 

supported, and that an ROA did not need to cause reasonable apprehension of harm in the intended 

victim. Id. at 436 .  Rather, the court reasoned that the question is "whether an objective person 

familiar with the person' s mental health and offense history would reasonably fear harm. The act 

or threat itself need not be dangerous ." Id. (emphasis added) . The test is whether the defendant' s 

behavior would instill reasonable apprehension in an objective person aware of his history and 

condition. Id. at 437 .  

C .  The State Presented Sufficient Evidence that Pasley Committed an ROA 

A rational trier of fact could have found that the State proved an ROA beyond a reasonable 

doubt based on the evidence presented at trial . This evidence supported a finding that Pasley' s 

acts with K.R. create a reasonable apprehension of sexually violent harm in the mind of an 

objective person who knows of Pasley' s history and mental condition. 

Here, Pasley was incarcerated on the day that the State filed its petition. Whether the State 

had to prove an ROA depended on whether he was incarcerated for a sexually violent offense or 

conduct that qualifies as an ROA. 5 

5 In this case, the court ruled pretrial that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable 
doubt that Pasley' s conviction for assault in the third degree-negligence constituted an ROA. 
This is the subject of the State ' s  cross appeal, which we do not address here . 

1 2  
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At trial, the court found that the State had satisfied its burden in showing that Pasley's acts 

underlying his conviction created a reasonable apprehension of sexually violent harm in the mind 

ofan objective person who knows of Pasley's history and mental condition. The court based this 

determination on the testimony from four State witnesses, two defense witnesses, and various 

conviction documents. This evidence highlighted the similarities between the assault of K.R. and 

Pasley's past offenses, which in turn supports the conclusion that it was nonconsensual. Those 

similarities include the power and authority Pasley exerted over his victims, K.R. 's youthful 

appearance and demeanor, the groping and masturbation of his victims, and more. The credibility 

of this evidence is not reviewed by this court. Cardenas-Flores, 1 89 Wn.2d at 266. This evidence 

is sufficient. 

Pasley cites Anderson and Froats to support his argumentthat the evidence was insufficient 

to establish he committed an ROA. Pasley asserts that in those cases, the State proved beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the sexual activity in question was nonconsensual, but in this case, the State 

admitted that K.R. may be able to consent to sexual contact. Therefore, according to Pasley, 

because the State provided no substantive evidence of a nonconsensual sexual encounter with 

K.R., the evidence is insufficient to prove an ROA. 

Pasley's assertions regarding consent are misplaced. While the circumstances surrounding 

the incidents with K.R. could support differing conclusions as to consent, consent is not the crux 

in this case, nor was it the crux of the analysis in Anderson and Froats. See 166 Wn.2d at 550; 

134 Wn. App. at 435-36. Rather, the real issue in determining whether Pasley committed an ROA 

is whether an objective observer who knows of Pasley's history and mental condition could find 

that Pasley's behavior with K.R. creates a reasonable apprehension of sexually violent harm, 

consent notwithstanding. 

13 
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Consent is unrelated to the ROA inquiry in the case before us. Likewise, consent was 

immaterial to the ROA conclusion in Anderson and Froats. See 166 Wn.2d at 550; 134 Wn. App. 

at 435-36. Those cases turned on the fact of vulnerable adults serving as substitutes for the 

perpetrators' preferred victims: children. See Anderson, 166 Wn.2d at 550; Froats, 134 Wn. App. 

at 435-36. The courts in Anderson and Froats upheld the ROA findings because, in both cases, 

the defendants were repeating a concerning pattern reminiscent of their past offenses. It was this 

repetition of a concerning pattern reminiscent of past offenses, not consent per se, that was the 

focus of the court's conclusion. 

In fact, the circumstances in this case are analogous to Anderson and Froats. Dr. Fox in 

effect described K.R. as a substitute victim, stating that Pasley's behavior with K.R. and K.R. 's 

status as a male who looked young and who had cognitive limitations "were consistent . . .  with 

the pattern of behavior with the other victims." 1 RP at 107. Dr. Fox also provided extensive 

testimony about Pasley's mental condition. Dr. Fox testified that based on Pasley's sexual assault 

of others, Pasley suffers from other specified paraphilic disorder, and that Pasley's sexual conduct 

with K.R. supports the paraphilic disorder diagnosis because K.R. appeared much younger than 

his chronological age and had cognitive limitations. Dr. Fox identified parallels among Pasley's 

past offenses and K.R., noting "[e]ach of the victims were similar in that they were soft spoken, 

shy, particularly vulnerable, and had the absence of a father figure and were scared." 1 RP at 132. 

Many similarities exist between Pasley's assault ofK.R. and his past victims, but the ROA 

behavior need not be identical to past offending behavior to qualify as an ROA. Similar to the 

defendant in Marshall who had a history of offending against young girls and whose ROA victim 

was a disabled adult woman, Pasley's past victims were minor boys while his ROA victim was a 

cognitively delayed adult man. 156 Wn.2d at 153-54. And, similar to the defendant in McNutt, 
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whose ROA offense involved the same type of predatory behavior with a minor female victim as 

his past behavior with minor male victims, here the incidents with K.R. reflected the same type of 

predatory behavior as with Pasley' s  past victims.  1 24 Wn. App. at 3 5 1 .  

Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, an objective person who knows 

of Pasley' s history and mental condition as described above could recognize the similarities among 

the sexual acts Pasley perpetrated against his victims and the parallels among the victims'  profiles. 

The State presented sufficient evidence of Pasley' s history and mental condition, such that a 

rational trier of fact could find that Pasley' s behavior with K.R. creates a reasonable apprehension 

of sexually violent harm and thereby constitutes an ROA. We will not disturb the trial courts 

findings on this record. 

II. EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE 

Pasley argues that the trial court erred by excluding the portion of his deposition transcript 

wherein he recounted K.R. ' s statement that their sexual encounter was "cool," even though K.R. 

had a girlfriend. Br. of Appellant at 3 5 .  Pasley argues that this question and answer was not 

offered for its truth, but rather to show its effect on him as the listener. We hold that Pasley was 

not prejudiced by the exclusion of this portion of his deposition. Therefore, even if we assume 

without deciding that the statement was improperly excluded, the error does not merit reversal . 

A. Pasley Was Not Prejudiced by the Statement' s Exclusion 

An erroneous evidentiary ruling does not result in reversal unless the defendant was 

prejudiced. State v. Thomas, 1 50 Wn.2d 82 1 , 87 1 ,  83 P .3d 970 (2004) . For evidentiary errors not 

implicating a constitutional mandate, reversal is only proper if, within reasonable probabilities, the 

outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. Id. 
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Here, even if the exclusion was improper, it did not prejudice Pasley because the excluded 

statement was of minor significance in comparison to the other evidence presented and considered 

at trial . Specifically, the expert testimony was highly influential in the trial court' s decision. The 

trial court considered the differences between Dr. Fox' s and Dr. Abbott' s testimony, and 

concluded that, consistent with Dr. Fox ' s  testimony, Pasley met the criteria of an SVP. The trial 

court noted that "although Dr. Abbott testified credibly, the court believes that Dr. Abbott 

overstated the value of Mr. Pasley' s treatment because of the history ofre-offense after treatment." 

2 RP at 758 .  Admission of the excluded evidence is unlikely to have affected these determinations 

to the extent that the outcome of the trial would have been different. 

The trial court also noted in its oral ruling that Pasley stated in his guilty plea that he 

touched K.R. in an "offensive manner," he admitted to multiple sex offenses, and the fact that 

" [h] is testimony did not show remorse but seemingly utilized words and phrases from treatment 

programs. [His] description of the incident with [K.R.] was not indicative of successful treatment." 

2 RP at 754. This also rebuts Pasley' s claim of prejudice, because the excluded testimony would 

not have affected the trial court' s determination as to these aspects . 

In sum, had the trial court considered the excluded excerpt, it likely would have reached 

the same conclusion. Thus, there is no substantial likelihood that the trial court would have reached 

a different conclusion regarding the ROA had the disputed deposition excerpt been admitted. We 

hold that because Pasley was not prejudiced by this evidentiary error, it does not merit reversal . 

Ill. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

Pasley argues that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to re-raise the hearsay issue 

before the deposition was admitted into evidence. We disagree. For the same reason there was no 
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prejudice from any evidentiary error, Pasley fails to show sufficient prejudice to warrant a finding 

of ineffective assistance based on the failure to re-raise. 

CONCLUSION 

For the aforementioned reasons, we affirm the trial court' s order of commitment. 

We concur: 

�, !-:I_ 
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